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REAUTHORIZATION OF THE HEAD START
PROGRAM

THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 25, 2003

U.S. SENATE,
COMMITTEE ON INDIAN AFFAIRS,
Washington, DC.

The committee met, pursuant to notice, at 10 a.m., in room 562,
Dirksen Senate Building, Hon. Daniel K. Inouye (vice chairman of
the committee) presiding.

Present: Senator Inouye.

STATEMENT OF HON. DANIEL K. INOUYE, U.S. SENATOR FROM
HAWALII, VICE CHAIRMAN, COMMITTEE ON INDIAN AFFAIRS

Senator INOUYE. The Committee on Indian Affairs meets this
morning to receive testimony on the reauthorization of the Head
Start program and particularly the programs that serve Indian
country.

For millions of children nationwide, the Head Start program has
proven to be one of the most beneficial aspects of their beginnings
of life. For the children of Indian country and their parents, the
Head Start program may well make a critical difference throughout
their entire lives.

So it is important that the Head Start program have the flexibil-
ity to address the unique needs in Indian country, including the
ability to allow instruction in the child’s native language.

We have witnesses today who are the experts in Indian Head
Start programs. So, without further ado, I will call upon the first
panel. We have on the first panel the associate commissioner of the
Head Start Bureau, Administration for Children and Families, De-
partment of Health and Human Services, Windy Hill.

STATEMENT OF WINDY M. HILL, ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER,
HEAD START BUREAU, ADMINISTRATION FOR CHILDREN
AND FAMILIES, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN
SERVICES, WASHINGTON, DC

Ms. HiLL. Good morning, Mr. Chairman.

Senator INOUYE. Please proceed. Welcome.

Ms. HiLL. Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, I appre-
ciate this opportunity to testify before you today on the President’s
plan to strengthen Head Start, including those programs serving
American Indian and Alaska Native children and families. I am
here not only as the Associate Commissioner of Head Start, but
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also as a former Head Start child and the mother of a Head Start
child who is now an accomplished high school student.

I would like to focus my time today on the President’s goals for
improving Head Start. I also want to share some highlights and in-
sights into Head Start services and operations within American In-
dian and Alaska Native programs, AIAN Head Start, that I know
are of special interest to this committee.

Let me say at the outset that the President remains committed
to maintaining the current Federal-to-local relationship with ATAN
Head Start programs and working with these programs to address
the unique challenges they face.

As you know, Head Start was launched in 1965 as part of a bold,
big idea that children should not be disadvantaged in their edu-
cation because of the circumstances of their families. However, re-
cent research shows that, although Head Start children make
progress in areas of school readiness during the Head Start year,
they continue to lag behind their more economically-advantaged
peers. Consequently, the President and Secretary Thompson sent
the Head Start Bureau a clear message: More needs to be done to
strengthen the educational outcomes for children.

As part of the President’s “Good Start, Grow Smart Initiative,”
we were directed to increase the knowledge and skills of Head
Start teachers in the areas of pre-school language and literacy and
to create and maintain a national reporting system that will help
measure children’s progress in mastering the skills necessary to
enter school ready to learn.

In response, the Head Start Bureau has already undertaken a
number of efforts aimed at bolstering the school readiness of Head
Start children, and representatives from AIAN programs have been
part of this effort.

The administration’s efforts to improve the quality of Head Start
services for all children continue with the President’s proposal for
reauthorization of Head Start. Let me be clear that the President
is not proposing to block grant Head Start funding to States. The
President’s proposal does not allow States who may qualify for par-
ticipation in a State option to do away with the comprehensive
services currently available through Head Start and makes clear
that the Federal Government will not cease or relinquish its over-
sight responsibility for the Head Start program.

Under the President’s proposal, AIAN Head Start programs will
continue to be funded directly by the Federal Government. Gov-
erned by relevant laws and regulations, each tribe will design a
program that works, one that is sensitive to the culture and history
of the families, one that respects the rich traditions of the tribe,
and that recognizes the uniqueness of language and customs.

The Head Start program has provided Head Start services to In-
dian tribes since 1965, when the Department funded 43 grantees
in 14 States. We are currently funding 165 grantees in 26 States
to provide Head Start services to 23,837 children, 2,532 of whom
are served in our early Head Start program. There are 5,587 staff
working in ATAN Head Start programs, 80 percent of whom are
Native Americans.

In fiscal year 2004 there will be increased efforts made to assure
that Head Start programs are achieving their primary purpose of
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promoting school readiness, that all children, including all Amer-
ican Indian and Alaska Native children, leave Head Start with the
cognitive, emotional, and social skills they will need to be success-
ful in school.

We have tried to respond to several unique needs by making
available funding that permits Indian programs to reach all, or a
substantial part, of their Head Start-eligible families. Over the past
several years we have worked in partnership with the Indian
Health Service, IHS agency, addressing the many health and safety
concerns of Head Start programs, concerns that are often exacer-
bated by environmental factors beyond the control of a local Head
Start program or the community in which the program is located.

In partnership with the IHS, we are currently finalizing a report
to Congress on the overall status and condition of facilities occu-
pied by AIAN Head Start programs. My formal statement provides
some of the overall findings.

We have invested over %25 million in the last three years for ren-
ovations and construction to improve classroom and playground, as
well as work and meeting space, for AIAN Head Start programs.
We are also investing in new Head Start buses for AIAN programs
at a rate that is twice the national average.

We share these investments with you not to say that our job is
complete, but to acknowledge our awareness and intent to address
the needs of AIAN Head Start. We are committed to doing that.

We look forward to working with this committee and with the
Congress to continue to address these and other challenges. To-
gether we must do all we can to bring to fruition the goals and
dreams of our Nation’s “first family.”

Thank you, and I will be happy to answer any questions you may
have.

[Prepared statement of Ms. Hill appears in appendix.]

Senator INOUYE. All right, thank you very much, Ms. Hill.

I gather that the administration is proposing to create and man-
age a national reporting system, and I am just wondering what
sort of testing tools are you going to have and, if so, are they cul-
turally-sensitive or are they strictly for those who speak English?

Ms. HiLL. We have begun this process of developing the national
reporting system with a great awareness that in some parts of our
country there are multiple languages in our Head Start classrooms,
as many as 50 to 58 different languages. We know that the na-
tional reporting system will give us for the first time the ability to
assess the cognitive development of children, much like we assess
whether or not children have immunizations and whether parents
are receiving the supportive services that they need.

We approach this with a real sense that it will take time to de-
velop and implement a system that is responsive to all of the chil-
dren in the program, but that we must start somewhere. So we
have begun the process focusing primarily on children whose pri-
mary language is English or Spanish, recognizing that in the proc-
ess of assessing skills or English, children who have not acquired
English will not be assessed by an English assessment tool. It
means that over time we will move to multiple languages, but at
this point we are only capable of assessing children with those lan-
guages.
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Senator INOUYE. In the meantime, those children who cannot be
appropriately tested may have to suffer the consequences?

Ms. HiLL. No; absolutely not. Head Start is designed to address
the individual needs of all children. The national reporting system
gives us the ability to look across the country nationally and see
how well programs are doing in meeting the cognitive needs of chil-
dren, but at the same time local programs still maintain that re-
sponsibility to plan their program services around the individual
needs of children.

It means that children are assessed at three points in time in
every program. They look at the beginning of the year to identify
how and what services might need to be provided, including those
that relate to the development of a child. They look again about
mid-year to see how well they are doing and make whatever correc-
tive modifications are necessary. Then at the end of the year they
do a final assessment to see how well they achieved service deliv-
ery for every children. So no child will suffer because the national
reporting system cannot assess in all languages.

Senator INOUYE. So your reporting programs will accommodate
the language immersion Head Start programs?

Ms. HiLL. Absolutely.

Senator INOUYE. How does the administration plan to further the
acquisition, retention, and preservation of Native languages
tﬁroggh the Head Start program, or do you have any policy on
that?

Ms. HiLL. Well, as you know, the Head Start program values,
has a long history since its inception of valuing the culture and
languages of the children which we serve. We know that we are
serving children in south Texas whose primary language may be
Spanish, children who are in Alaska whose native culture is
Inupiat or Tlingit tribes, and that that is part of the Head Start
experience and figuring out how to do it. So we do that very well,
and we will continue to do that.

The Department of Health and Human Services, through its
ANA, Administration for Native American programs, makes avail-
able opportunities to support the immersion of language not only
in Head Start, but also throughout tribal programs and other op-
portunities.

We also have local programs who have done an excellent job of
creating within their local infrastructure the support for the pres-
ervation of Native languages.

Senator INOUYE. As you may be aware, I represent a State of
many islands. As a result, there are big islands and small islands.
On some of the islands, it is hard to believe this, but there are no
escalators, no elevators, no shopping malls. In fact, there are no
huge-screen theaters.

To take these children from one island to another, there is an ad-
ditional cost of transportation. In the same way, there are many
reservations that are hundreds of miles away from centers of activ-
ity.

Is your program making accommodations for additional transpor-
tation costs?

Ms. HiLL. We have begun our process, and it is an ongoing proc-
ess. As I mentioned in my short statement, the rate of investment
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in buses alone is twice the national average in Head Start, rec-
ognizing that many children are being transported over unpaved
roads. We want them to be transported in a fashion that is as safe
as possible, and the National Transportation Safety Board is giving
us guidance on what that type of transportation should look like.

So we continue, through quality improvement funds and one-
time funding opportunities, to provide local programs with the op-
portunity to apply for those funds, and as they are available, make
those funds available in developing transportation systems that are
safe for children.

Senator INOUYE. The funds are finally available?

Ms. HiLL. The funds have always been available in that one-time
funds are available at the end of each year. These are funds that,
for example, in the implementation of a program, if the program
starts late and dollars are unused, we use those funds to support
broader needs such as the transportation needs. So those funds
continue to be available on an annual basis.

In addition to that, there is ongoing quality improvement funds.
Now from 1999 to about 2001, there was about $80 million that
went into the base of Head Start program funding to address qual-
ity improvement needs, and transportation would certainly be an
area in which programs had an opportunity to use those dollars to
support those needs.

Senator INOUYE. The Congress has requested the Department to
submit a report on the progress being made in Indian and Alaskan
villages. Do you have the report?

Ms. HiLL. The report is in the final stages of being complete and
submitted through the clearance process for submission to Con-
gress. In my long statement we did extract some findings of that
Eeport to share with the committee in anticipation of its release

ere.

Senator INOUYE. When do you anticipate completion of the re-
port?

Ms. HivLL. I believe the report will be due and submitted the lat-
ter part of this year.

Senator INOUYE. So the committee will get a copy?

Ms. HiLL. Yes, sir.

Senator INOUYE. Thank you.

There is also a requirement of consultation. What is the nature
of consultation you have with Indian tribes?

Ms. HiLrL. Well, as you know, the Department and the Secretary
have revitalized a couple of interagency advisory groups and coun-
cils for that specific purpose.

Commissioner Quanah Stamps, who heads up the Administration
for Native American, ANA, Department, is the chair of that com-
mittee. Consultations for this year are being planned for December.

In addition to that, our assistant secretary, Dr. Wade Horn,
serves on the executive committee, advisory committee, and we are
looking forward to the opportunity, to those consultations this year.
In the interim, because we share one Department through our
weekly and monthly staff meetings convened by our assistant sec-
retary, we have the opportunity to have frequent dialogue across
programs about services, and we use that also as a vehicle, in addi-
tion to required reporting.
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Sgn?ator INOUYE. And you are satisfied with the progress being
made?

Ms. HiLL. I am satisfied that we are all extremely committed to
ensuring that that communication is effective and that it yields
outcomes, better outcomes, for the children and families served by
those programs.

Senator INOUYE. Ms. Hill, I thank you very much.

Ms. HiLL. Thank you.

Senator INOUYE. I think you are doing a good job.

Ms. HiLL. Thank you.

Senator INOUYE. In our next panel: the president of the National
Indian Head Start Directors Association of California, Mavany
Verdugo; the immersion instructor of the Taos Pueblo Head Start
program of New Mexico, Henrietta Gomez; the National Head Start
Directors Association board member and director of the Nez Perce
Tribe Head Start program, Consuelo Guillory.

Ladies, welcome, and may I call on Ms. Verdugo first.

STATEMENT OF MAVANY VERDUGO, PRESIDENT, NATIONAL
INDIAN HEAD START DIRECTORS ASSOCIATION, VALLEY
CENTER, CA, ACCOMPANIED BY HENRIETTA GOMEZ, IMMER-
SION INSTRUCTOR, TAOS PUEBLO HEAD START PROGRAM,
TAOS, NM; AND CONSUELO GUILLORY, NATIONAL INDIAN
HEAD START DIRECTORS ASSOCIATION, BOARD MEMBER
AND DIRECTOR, NEZ PERCE TRIBE HEAD START PROGRAM,
LAPWAL ID

Ms. VERDUGO. Thank you. Vice Chairman Inouye and members
of the committee, thank you for this opportunity to submit testi-
mony on behalf of the National Indian Head Start Directors Asso-
ciation with regard to reauthorization of Head Start.

We want to remember that in 1994 Senator Inouye was the first-
ever-awarded our association’s Child Advocate of the Year, and we
just want to thank you for continuing to support our children.

This testimony is about the miracle of Indian Head Start. Head
Start is one of the truly great Federal success stories in Indian
country. We urge the committee to support expansion of Head
Start and not its reorganization.

In the week prior to this hearing, our association sent out a brief
e-mail asking programs to respond to the specific challenges that
they face or obstacles that they have overcome in their work and
things that would be just unique to Indian Head Start. We were
really overwhelmed with the response. These testimonies and sto-
ries are attached, and we would really encourage you to read them.

Our role as the National Indian Head Start Directors Association
is as a national voice for our members in the United States. We
have roughly 95 percent of all of the Indian programs as members,
and we keep in communication.

Some of our statistics: Of the 575 federally-recognized tribes, 216
participate in Head Start and Early Head Start. That is a funded
enrollment of approximately 24,000 children. This number rep-
resents 2.9 percent of the total number of children nationwide
served by Head Start. These programs employ approximately 6,000
individuals, and one-half of them are employees that are current or
former Head Start parents, like myself.



7

Among the recommended improvements to the Head Start Act
are increasing the setaside for Indian Head Start. Currently, In-
dian Head Start programs receive a 2.9 percent set-aside of Head
Start funds. This is really not sufficient to address the extraor-
dinary range of unique challenges faced by tribes through the
United States. This just supports a statutorily-mandated increase
in the setaside for Indian Head Start to 4 percent.

Other specific funding needs are:

Increased funding for transportation services. Head Start fund-
ing for transportation does not adequately consider the geographic
isolation of many rural tribal communities, and you will read about
this in some of the stories that were submitted.

Increased funding to support effective professional development;
increased funding for training and technical assistance. Currently,
there is a 2 percent setaside for training and technical assistance.
We support a 3-percent set-aside for T&TA

Tribal programs should continue to receive their own T&TA dol-
lars with the additional funds awarded to a national technical and
training assistance system to support continued networking and
development across all tribal grantees.

We ask for increased funding for upgrading Head Start facilities
to maintain quality standards. There is a great need for the ren-
ovation of existing facilities as well as a need for the construction
of new facilities. Again, you will see this demonstrated in the sto-
ries.

Expansion of Early Head Start programs, including an Early
Head Start Indian set-aside—Ann Belleau will be giving you a
more detailed story about this in her testimony.

Flexibility in eligibility criteria. NITHSDA recommends that tribes
be given greater flexibility to establish the criteria for eligibility in
their Indian Head Start programs. This is not an effort to provide
universal coverage, but is intended to ensure that each tribe can
tailor its program to the unique cultural and economic -cir-
cumstances of its community. Currently, there is no preference lan-
guage for serving Indian children and eligibility requirements are
unreasonably low and inconsistent with other Federal programs.

We are asking for maintenance of a separate Indian Head Start
region within the Head Start Bureau. We request that the Head
Start Act specifically provide for a separate region for Indian Head
Start. We support the continued separate provision of technical as-
sistance for Indian Head Start.

State and local programs do not have the capacity to develop and
support this expertise. The American Indian/Alaska Native Pro-
gram Branch has also developed knowledge and experience which
enables it to respond more effectively to tribal programs, as well
as to explain, advocate, and articulate the issues within the Fed-
eral Government.

Formal consultation requirements for the Department of Health
and Human Services: Tribal Head Start consultations must provide
tribes and tribal Head Start grantees a forum that will allow great-
er opportunity for significant participation in the administration
and operation of Head Start programs and greater opportunity to
express their issues and concerns with existing or developing Fed-
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eral policies, regulations, and other related directives that affect
services in tribal communities.

Enhanced but flexible degree requirements for staff with ex-
panded distance learning opportunities, Connie is going to expound
on this in her testimony.

Culturally- and linguistically-appropriate testing: While the goals
of the national reporting system are laudable, to measure children’s
language and literacy skills in order to track child outcomes and
progress in educational achievement, culturally-skewed assess-
ments will hurt both schools and children.

Preservation of language and promotion of culturally-relevant
programs and research, Henrietta Gomez will be speaking about
that in her testimony.

Greater flexibility in cost sharing: Tribal communities affirm
their responsibility to provide a share of in-kind or cash-match to
support Head Start programs. However, it is a constant challenge
for impoverished tribes with a small volunteer pool, limited third-
party in-kind contributions, and their remote locations and low-
value facilities to meet the cost-sharing requirements of the law.

Undertaking of culturally-appropriate relevant research and
evaluation, this will be covered by Lee Turney in his testimony.

So, in conclusion, on behalf of the National Indian Head Start Di-
rectors Association, I would like to thank the committee for holding
this hearing and listening to the views expressed today. Again, I
would like to encourage you to read the stories from our programs
that are out there on the front, because they are very compelling,
to let you see the uniqueness of our Indian programs. Thank you.

[Prepared statement of Ms. Verdugo appears in appendix.]

Senator INOUYE. First, may I assure you that we will read those
stories.

You have suggested that the Head Start program be increased.
For example, at this moment you are receiving about 3-percent of
the Head Start funds. You are suggesting it be raised to 4. How
many more children will that accommodate?

Ms. VERDUGO. I would like to get back to you with an exact num-
ber of how that would affect, but we do have many children who
are unserved in our communities. This would enable us to get out
and reach unserved communities.

Senator INOUYE. You are also suggesting that families that qual-
ify under WIC be permitted to send their children. How many more
children would that add to the program?

Ms. VERDUGO. Again, I would have to get back to you on an exact
number, but I would say that USDA has proposed rules to go from
125 to 185 percent in their eligibility criteria. If we were able to
adopt that, it would be a uniform eligibility criteria for Federal pro-
grams, and it would help a lot of families that just barely go over
that eligibility criteria, because TANF is working, and they are
going out to work, but they lament that it was much easier when
they were on TANF to be able to qualify for things. So it is not that
they are exceeding the limit in a large way.

Senator INOUYE. With your background and experience, are you
satisfied that the program has had some good results?

Ms. VERDUGO. Absolutely. I can speak personally as to how Head
Start has helped me and my family, and you will see it in stories.
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It helps children as we follow them, as they transition into school,
in a broad area of ways. We are really increasing their academic
success. You will see that in the other testimony that comes
through. We can firmly stand behind the program.

Senator INOUYE. Thank you very much.

Ms. VERDUGO. Yes.

Senator INOUYE. Ms. Gomez.

STATEMENT OF HENRIETTA GOMEZ, IMMERSION INSTRUC-
TOR, TAOS PUEBLO HEAD START PROGRAM, TAOS, NM

Ms. GOMEZ. [Speaks briefly in Native language.]

Iloculi is my Tiwa name given to me by my paternal grandfather.
Henrietta Gomez is my paycheck name.

Senator INOUYE. Your paycheck name? [Laughter.]

Ms. GoMmEZ. Vice Chairman Inouye and members of the Senate
Committee on Indian Affairs, I appreciate the opportunity to sub-
mit this testimony in support of the recommendations of the Na-
tional Indian Head Start Directors Association for amendments to
the Head Start Act as it applies to American Indian/Alaska Native
Head Start programs.

Among the proposed recommendations are amendments that re-
late to Native language preservation, an issue I would like to focus
on in this testimony. In the early 1990’s, Congress passed the Na-
tive Language Act, which recognized the unique status that tribes
hold in the United States as sovereign entities through treaties and
acts of Congress and the central importance of native languages. I
hope this body will once again reaffirm its commitment to native
people and the survival of their languages and culture through
careful and thoughtful consideration.

I went to school when I was 5 years old. My first language was
English. My mother is Acoma Pueblo. My father is Tiwa from
northern New Mexico. His language is Tiwa. As such, I learned to
speak English first.

When I went to school, I saw my classmates suffer because they
came to school speaking their first language, which was Tiwa.
When we would go into the playground, because they were forbid-
den to speak in the classrooms, we would go out into the play-
ground and we would sit in our little circles playing, and they
would whisper to me: [Speaks briefly in Native language.] “Why do
you speak English? Are you a Poinsiena? Are you a white girl?”

I tried very hard to learn my language. My mother, whose native
language is Keres, saw my suffering and the trauma that I was ex-
periencing, and she learned, made every effort to learn, the Tiwa
language. My native language is my second language.

I went through school speaking and learning both English and
Tiwa. When I became a mother, I taught my children only English.
When they became adults, young adults, I realized that through
my efforts to prevent my children from experiencing the same trau-
ma that I experienced, I robbed my children of their rightful herit-
age. My children do not speak the language.

I came into the Head Start program when the Head Start pro-
gram and the local Bureau school had made an effort, because of
the community assessment and the findings of the community as-
sessment, and the tribal communities voicing their concern about
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our children not speaking the language, because children were
speaking English in places where English didn’t have a place, and
those were in our ceremonial places.

Children were speaking to their grandparents in English. The
grandparents sometimes didn’t have anyone to speak to in their
language, and I see this not only in my tribe, but many tribes
across the Nation.

After we applied for the ANA grant and were granted a 3-year
grant through an ANA program, we developed a language immer-
sion program in the Head Start program. The second year of imple-
menting our program our children were tested because many of the
teachers, and even fluent Native teachers, were concerned that, if
our children were immersed in a language program, they would
have academic delays. In the second year of implementing our pro-
gram, our children were tested and their gains were greater than
the children in the English-only classrooms.

We understand in the Head Start program that we have Federal
mandates that we have to comply with. We understand our Presi-
dent’s efforts to reach every child in the No Child Left Behind Act.
We understand that English is very important, but just as well we
want our Native languages to have the same recognition, to have
the same status as English, because in order for children to
progress and develop socially and academically, they have to be
recognized and honored for who they are and where they have
come from.

In our language immersion program, children can go out into the
community and acknowledge people, their people, in their lan-
guage. Children can use their Native language outside of the tribal
community and greet each other in their language. When they go
out into the greater community, because they are nurtured and
honored for where they come from and who they are, they can suc-
ceed in the greater world.

Learning your native tongue and learning English can happen si-
multaneously. We see that in our language immersion program.

After the ANA grant expired, we had an opportunity to apply for
a full-day, full-year grant through the Head Start program, and we
wrote our language program into the Head Start grant. Our teach-
ers, our native language teachers, understand accountability, and
many of them have taken the challenge to go back to school and
receive early childhood education.

We can bring more native-language-speaking teachers into the
classroom to develop culturally-relevant material, teaching mate-
rials. We understood early on in our program that we can’t just
translate written curriculum or borrowed curriculum and try to
teach our native language. It is a challenge to develop curriculum
and teaching materials to teach native languages, but those teach-
ers that have done this are very creative and innovative teachers
that have taken that challenge.

They teach outside of the walls of the classroom. They teach chil-
dren to honor and respect their environment.

As I went through my personal education process, because we
weren’t recognized and honored for who we were, many of us left
our language and culture behind, and our children, as such, didn’t
learn that. We robbed them of that.
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I could see the breakdown of the social structure of my tribe. It
is our hope that in bringing back the language in the home and in
the classrooms that we can start to bring back the social values of
our tribes which can be communicated in our language.

Native language and culture in American Indian/Alaska Native
Head Start programs will help to ensure that indigenous children
are educated in a cultural-appropriate manner and be able to relate
to the larger society from an intact cultural perspective, not from
a destroyed or distorted cultural perspective.

Native language programs and Head Start programs represent a
native’s adaptation of the ideal of education. For a native culture,
learning means discovering the principles and the relations of ev-
erything. Integrating native culture and language in NIAN Head
Start programs will contribute not only to the survival of native so-
ciety, but also to the survival of the world through native contribu-
tions to the community of learning.

We do not believe that language and literacy activities geared to-
ward English are the only meaningful ones in a classroom of stu-
dents from a native language background, the home language and
literacies of native children can and should be incorporated into the
classroom in ways that would be socially useful and cognitively
challenging for children. Inclusion of the home language and cul-
ture in the classroom curriculum allows Native children the oppor-
tunity to be the experts and build pride in the languages and cul-
tures of their family.

The inclusion of native languages in the classroom is also cog-
nitively challenging. These children will develop mental linguistic
awareness, the ability to think how language works, a skill that
will help them in learning how to read and write in English.

In an effort to ensure school readiness, we must make sure to
leave intact and strengthen the paths to meaningful life connec-
tions to family and community. Thank you. [Speaks a Native lan-
guage word.]

[Prepared statement of Ms. Gomez appears in appendix.]

Senator INOUYE. Thank you very much. Historians and anthro-
pologists have long suggested that language is an integral part of
culture and civilization. When language disappears, that culture
and civilization eventually disappear. No one knows anything
about Assyrians now. It is because it is long gone. No one speaks
that language. Or Chaldean or Babylonian, but these were great
civilizations at one time.

In the same sense, I agree with the anthropologists and sociolo-
gists and historians. I am proud to say that we in Hawaii have a
very ambitious Native Hawaiian language immersion program, and
like you, the results have shown that children who have gone
through the program have done academically better than those who
have not. So I congratulate you.

My question to you is: Have you found, has your tribe experi-
enced any barriers in establishing and operating a native language
immersion Head Start program? Has the Government put any ob-
stacles in your path?

Ms. GOMEZ. In the beginning, when we first implemented our
program, there were questions, just as I testified, on whether there
would be delays in the children’s academic performance. There
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were also, interestingly, the instructors, sometimes even native in-
structors, stating that, “I went and took and got my degree to teach
in English. I was not taught to teach my language.”

So I think that in this act, if there is language in the law where
all people can understand that language and culture are important
to the development, the healthy and well-being of children, that ev-
eryone can understand and not put up personal barriers, and we
can overcome attitudes and understand differences and honor ev-
eryone’s culture and language.

Senator INOUYE. I thank you very much, Ms. Gomez.

May I now recognize Ms. Guillory.

STATEMENT OF CONNIE GUILLORY, NATIONAL INDIAN HEAD
START DIRECTORS ASSOCIATION, BOARD MEMBER AND DI-
RECTOR, NEZ PERCE TRIBE HEAD START PROGRAM,
LAPWALI ID

Ms. GUILLORY. Thank you very much. Usually I don’t have to use
a mike, but I will be professional, I guess.

But I did hand this out yesterday, and I hope you do have it in
your packets. What it says is “The Nez Perce Tribe’s Early Child-
hood Development Program: Its Journey to Distance Learning Edu-
cation.” I will be referencing that.

Today I am here to represent Head Start and Early Head Start
programs in Indian country and to talk about the relevance and
importance of distance learning for these programs. In my experi-
ence as the Director of the Nez Perce Tribe Early Childhood Devel-
opment Program, which includes Head Start, Early Head Start,
and the Child Care and Development Fund, distance learning can
and has successfully bridged the resource gap experienced by near-
ly all rurally-located Indian tribes. To do this, Indian country has
already begun developing collaborations to utilize distance learn-
ing, especially for professional development purposes.

As we know, Indian country does not have a cadre of people pre-
pared to enter the workforce. Rather, the workforce consists of par-
ents with children. Unfortunately, all too often they lack the skills
needed or are entering the workforce for the first time, do not have
a high school diploma, and many are working to just get their
GED.

So what do we do in Indian country? We have to become creative
and innovative while developing practical, attainable, professional
development training plans to meet the needs of staff, the tribal
government, and the Federal Government. Thus, the role of tech-
nology allows programs to develop training activities and opportu-
nities for our children, families, and communities.

Since 1994, when new academic requirements were added to the
Head Start Act, tribes have had to collaborate, create, and develop
systems to meet these requirements. In doing so, they have had to
address the difficulty of being located far from major educational
institutions.

One way we have dealt with this challenge has been through dis-
tance learning. While distance learning is relatively new to early
childhood programs in Indian country, I am happy to report that
it is up and running.
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Tribes seek to provide ways for their people to get degrees with-
out having to leave the reservation. For Head Start programs, dis-
tance learning permits relatively easy access to quality professional
development training plans. We should not forget that our staff
often pursue these degrees while working full time and raising a
family.

Of course, distance learning not only allows tribes to offer oppor-
tunities to tribal members, but also to their workforce, including
the non-Indians. It is a tool that works for everyone: tribal govern-
ments, employees of the tribe, and the communities within a res-
ervation.

I am here to specifically talk about the distance learning pro-
gram that the Nez Perce Tribe in Idaho entered with the North-
west Indian College based in Bellingham, Washington, almost 10
hours away. In 2001, we entered into an agreement, and in 2002,
through the Head Start program, was specifically to assist our tribe
in getting our staff trained to get on their way towards their AA
degree.

What we have found through this collaboration, the MOA is real-
ly a commitment on both sides for the Head Start Bureau, for the
local or community college, and for tribes that enter into this
agreement.

In my research I looked at the commitments ranging from Alas-
ka, which is very remote, to the Navajo Nation, which is very big.
Our tribe isn’t that big. We do encompass five counties.

But even though distance learning can be successful, there is a
lot of the costs and benefits you have to look at prior to getting into
it. I kind of look at insight and I think, my gosh, we have accom-
plished so much, and maybe because we didn’t know we were suc-
cessful, and maybe if we would have known, we wouldn’t be as far
as we are. I don’t know, but it has worked.

I do cite some things: that when you first go into distance learn-
ing, you talk about technology, the hardware, the video players, the
cameras, software, transmission, looking at the T1 line, satellite,
microwave. The examples I have given in our brochure here, a
PowerPoint presentation, is how we show it from Lapwai to
Kamiah, which is 62 miles going up the beautiful Clear Water
River.

But in that it is just valleys. It is not flat. It is trees. That was
problably one of our biggest obstacles. It took us 1 year to get that
in place.

You look at the maintenance, repair, and update, the infrastruc-
ture. Does the program have the infrastructure in place, produc-
tion, the support, the support from the tribes, from the colleges,
from Northwest Indian College? How fast can they get over here
from Bellingham?

Well, luckily, our tribe has that information of support systems,
the personnel to not only run the program, but getting instructors
that are qualified. We do run ads every year. Although the costs
of distance learning are truly outweighed by the benefits, I do point
out that, to just start this program, it costs $463,000 to start up.

As a result, from this, as we have when I heard you speak earlier
about articulation agreements, we have articulation agreements
with Washington State University in Pullman, Washington; the
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University of Idaho, which is in Moscow, ID, and Lewis and Clark
State in Lewiston, ID.

As we talk about this and as I try to describe it, collaboration
is the key, and in Indian country that is survival. I think about,
I actually made this sentence up: For Indian country, collaboration
is not an option; it is a necessity and, fortunately, it exists.

One successful collaborative effort is that between the Head
Start program and the American Indian Higher Education Consor-
tium and tribal colleges and universities. There are 32 accredited
tribal colleges and universities that offer early childhood education
programs.

Then we get into our professional development that we are re-
quired to do through the Head Start Act. It says, each Head Start
agency would be required to coordinate and collaborate with the
local education agency serving the communities involved to ensure
curriculum and classroom experiences for Head Start are aligned
with the cognitive, social, emotional, and physical skills that chil-
dren entering kindergarten are expected to demonstrate.

We didn’t even know this was going on, Mr. Inouye, in that the
Idaho Reading Indicator—it is called the IRI—had been testing our
children that were leaving Head Start to kindergarten from 1999.
The skills they were looking at was, once they left Head Start to
kindergarten, could they write their own name? Could they detect
rhyme? Could they detect syllables and identify uppercase letters?

I am happy to report from this graph you will see in 1999 15 per-
cent scored at or above grade level; 3 years later, in 2002, our chil-
dren scored at 49 percent at or above grade level.

As a part of this, as I indicated earlier, our Early Head Start pro-
gram, which we are so fortunate to have, is offering a holistic ap-
proach to child development, and I am really a believer that
every—you know, of course, I am going to say every Indian pro-
gram should have an Early Head Start program, but we start with
the mothers who the babies are being inside of them, until they
come into the program from Early Head Start to Head Start. We
have seen this work because, as a part of this statistic, these are
our Early Head Start children that started at a minimum in our
program at 3 months old, the brain development. So it does work.

That is a passion. Today, probably he has already been born; I
have a grandson that has just been born today as I present this
testimony. So it will be very memorable to me.

Professional development can be achieved but requires financial
and administrative support. I would like to state that we did re-
ceive notice that the new T&TA system that has been dismantled
was supposed to have started September 1, and to our knowledge,
it has not begun. It is a concern that we have.

I would like to, in closing, NIHSDA strongly supports amending
the Head Start Act to provide grants to tribal colleges and univer-
sities, to increase the number of post-secondary degrees in early
childhood education, and increase funding for Indian Head Start
early childhood services. When I say that, I don’t mean just Head
Start. I am talking from birth to 5 years of age. As shown in our
report, it does work.

In collaboration with local school districts, we support that, but
we need to keep it separate because this is a result of it. I don’t
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know that we should necessarily be mandated, even though I heard
an assurance that that wouldn’t occur.

Then increase funding to retain and recruit staff. Again, this was
real disappointing for me, is that, through this process of getting
staff educated, what we are finding now, they are getting their edu-
cation. We are helping to support them. Just last week, I lost a per-
son. I know we can never keep them or make them stay with you,
but a lot of it is going to have to depend on the salary we are going
to be able to pay them. We have to pay them. She gave me two
days’ notice and she went to the Lewiston Idaho School District. So
that was really a disappointment to us.

I just want to say that it does work, Early Head Start and dis-
tance learning, and that we need to have enough funding to meet
these mandates. I had Windy Hill ask me that. When I showed her
the diagram, she said, “Well, how did it work? What did you do?”
I said, “Well, I don’t know. I guess we’ve done what you told us to
do.”

I think as Indian people we do that. We get these Federal regula-
tions and we do; we do the best we can without a lot of times the
resources to do it.

With that, Mr. Chairman, thank you.

[Prepared statement of Ms. Guillory appears in appendix.]

Senator INOUYE. Well, congratulations. The Nez Perce Tribe is
very fortunate to have you, Ma’am.

Ms. GUILLORY. Thank you.

Senator INOUYE. Under the Memorandum of Agreement, what
percentage of your teachers have met, or are meeting, the edu-
cation degree requirement?

Ms. GUILLORY. Mr. Chairman, until I lost this person, we were
doing pretty good. Right now I am one of those directors, contrary
to probably a lot of the belief out there, that what we have set up
in the way of professional development, that within the first year
they must get their CDA. That is the basic foundation.

Along with that, then they start to enter into school for their AA
degree via our distance learning program. If they choose to go di-
rectly or they already have some classes, we just start their profes-
sional development plans and try to provide that support to get
their degrees.

We are not at 50 percent. We are at probably 75 percent for our
CDAs, but we are not for our AAs. I mean I am not even looking
at a bachelor’s, to be honest with you.

I know that they are trying to make that mandatory by 2008. 1
don’t know that tribes can meet that.

Senator INOUYE. I thank you very much, and, ladies, I thank you
all very much.

Our next panel: The National Indian Head Start Directors Asso-
ciation board member, Lee Turney; National Indian Head Start Di-
rectors Association board member, Ann Belleau; executive director,
Department of Education, Pueblo of Lag